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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF OREGON
PORTLAND DIVISION

INNOVATION LAW LAB,
Plaintiff
v.
CHAD WOLF, Secretary, Department of
Homeland Security; MATTHEW
ALBENCE, Acting Director, Immigration
and Customs Enforcement; NATHALIE
ASHER, Acting Field Office Director,
Seattle Field Office of Immigration and
Customs Enforcement, in their official
capacities,
Defendants.
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INTRODUCTION
1.

This afternoon, August 12, 2020, federal immigration agents in white unmarked

vans began rounding up members of the Central Oregon community under the purported
authority of United States immigration law. Although pro bono lawyers with Plaintiff
Innovation Law Lab are on the ground in Central Oregon and have sought to provide counsel,
access has been refused.
2.

All persons are entitled to due process of law. And under a law passed by the

Oregon legislature in 2018, Oregon provides publicly funded attorneys to defend members of the
Oregon community against unjust and unfair immigration actions.
3.

The federal government’s unlawful denial of attorney access to the individuals

arrested and detained in the government’s Central Oregon raid contravenes not only our laws,
but also fundamental constitutional rights and Oregon’s basic values.
PARTIES
4.

Plaintiff Innovation Law Lab (Law Lab) is an Oregon nonprofit organization that

works to improve the rights of noncitizens throughout the United States. Law Lab seeks to
provide Know Your Rights presentations to the individuals who have been arrested and detained
by ICE officers or agents as part of the Central Oregon raid, including all individuals arrested
and detained by ICE officers or agents in the week leading up to the filing of this lawsuit. In
addition, through its Equity Corps of Oregon and Center of Excellence pro bono representation
programs, Law Lab seeks to provide legal representation to every unrepresented individual who
was detained by ICE officers or agents as part of the Central Oregon raid and who requests
representation through Law Lab.
5.

Defendant Chad Wolf is the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Homeland

Security (DHS), an agency of the United States. Secretary Wolf is ultimately responsible for the
PAGE 1 - COMPLAINT

Case 3:20-cv-01366

Document 1

Filed 08/12/20

Page 3 of 12

actions of U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement and U.S. Customs and Border Protection.
He is the legal custodian of the individuals detained by ICE in the Bend raid. Defendant Wolf is
named in his official capacity.
6.

Defendant Matthew Albence is the Acting Director of U.S. Immigration and

Customs Enforcement (ICE), a component of DHS. ICE is responsible for apprehension,
detention, and removal of noncitizens from the United States. Defendant Albence is the legal
custodian of individuals apprehended and detained in the Central Oregon raid. Defendant
Albence is named in his official capacity.
7.

Defendant Nathalie Asher is the Acting Field Office Director for the Seattle Field

Office of ICE. Director Asher is responsible for the enforcement of the immigration laws within
this district, and for ensuring that ICE officials follow the agency’s policies and procedures.
Defendant Asher is the legal custodian of the individuals apprehended and detained in the
Central Oregon raid. Defendant Asher is named in her official capacity.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
8.

Jurisdiction is proper under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 5 U.S.C. § 702.

9.

Plaintiffs seek declaratory and injunctive relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 5

U.S.C. § 706, and the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202. A substantial,
actual, and continuing controversy exists between the parties.
10.

The federal government has waived its sovereign immunity for suits seeking

injunctive relief against constitutional violations. 5 U.S.C. § 702.
11.

Venue is proper in the District of Oregon under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because

Plaintiff Law Lab resides in this District and a substantial part of the events giving rise to the
claims in this action took place in this District.
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
Plaintiff Law Lab’s Equity Corps of Oregon Program
12.

Law Lab directs the pro bono project at many places around the United States,

including the former detention center in Artesia, New Mexico where, in collaboration with a
large pro bono network, every woman and child detained had access to representation. The Law
Lab initiated the pro bono project at the South Texas Family Residential Center where every
woman and children detained has access to representation. Law Lab directs pro bono
representation projects in states across the United States including Georgia, Kansas, Missouri,
North Carolina, and Oregon. Law Lab is a collaborating organization with the Southern Poverty
Law Center’s Southeast Immigrant Freedom Initiative that provides pro bono lawyers at several
immigrant detention centers in Georgia and Louisiana.
13.

In 2018, Law Lab mobilized around the civil detention of 123 immigrant men at

the Federal Correctional Institution Sheridan, Oregon (“FCI Sheridan”). At that time, Law Lab
provided pro bono legal representation to every man in the Sheridan cohort who requested our
representation. In collaboration with almost 200 legal advocates and community members, Law
Lab represented 80 men from 11 different countries. Every individual represented by Law Lab
was found to have a credible fear of persecution or torture; leading to, for most, the conclusion of
expedited removal proceedings, the initiation of immigration proceedings before an immigration
judge under 8 USC § 1229a, and eligibility for release from detention. Ultimately, 97% of the
men represented through the Sheridan pro bono project were released on bond or parole after
Law Lab pro bono counsel began representation. Release from custody ensured that these men
could have their cases heard. Law Lab has continued to represent, or facilitate pro bono
representation, on the merits in the cases that remain before the Portland Immigration Court.
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Law Lab also has played a central role in the development and piloting of the

Equity Corps, Oregon’s first universal representation program, which launched on October 1,
2018. Universal representation is the concept that no individual should have to face the risk of
deportation without the assistance of an attorney. Innovation Law Lab coordinates and reviews
all Equity Corps referrals and provides technical and strategic support to partner nonprofit
immigration legal service providers who represent immigrants in removal proceedings before the
Portland Immigration Court. The Equity Corps has received funding from the City of Portland,
Multnomah County, and the State of Oregon. Currently the program operates under a twomillion-dollar grant from the State of Oregon that has allowed services to extend to Oregonians
statewide.
15.

The Equity Corps provides representation regardless of case type. Every week,

Law Lab receives Equity Corps referrals and assigns cases to Equity Corps’ six immigrant legal
services providers to provide legal services and representation to immigrants in removal
proceedings throughout the state of Oregon.
16.

To be eligible for removal defense services under the Equity Corps of Oregon, a

person must (a) reside in Oregon; (b) live in a household that earns less than 200% of the federal
poverty guidelines; and (c) be at risk of removal from the United States.
17.

Law Lab also facilitates removal defense services for Oregonians in removal

proceedings who do not qualify for the Equity Corps program through the Centers of Excellence.
The Centers of Excellence places cases that are ineligible for Equity Corps with pro bono
attorneys for direct representation. Through the Centers of Excellence, Law Lab also facilitates
and provides limited legal services to individuals ineligible for Equity Corps until it can place the
case with a Center of Excellence pro bono attorney for direct representation.
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Plaintiff Law Lab’s Denial of Individuals Detained in the Central Oregon Raid
18.

On August 12, 2020, Plaintiff Law Lab became aware that federal immigration

agents were conducting a raid in Central Oregon. Plaintiff Law Lab learned that two unmarked
vans in the Crane Commons parking lot in Bend, Oregon, were being used to detain individuals
for alleged violations of immigration laws. Plaintiff Law Lab immediately mobilized its
volunteer attorney network to provide legal representation to the individuals who had been
arrested and detained as part of the Central Oregon Raid.
19.

Erin Carter, a volunteer attorney with Plaintiff Law Lab, was present in the

parking lot near the vans. Ms. Carter attempted to speak to two men detained on one of the
buses in an attempt to offer legal representation. These men have the initials M.A.Z. and
J.A.C.S. J.A.C.S. requested the opportunity to consult with an attorney, asking Ms. Carter to
“tell them I want a lawyer.” Ms. Carter was unable to directly communicate with M.A.Z.
20.

Around the same time, Law Lab volunteer attorney Micaela Guthrie attempted to

speak with an ICE officer present at the scene in order to request the opportunity to consult with
the detained individuals. Ms. Guthrie identified herself as an attorney, but the ICE officer
refused to communicate with Ms. Guthrie or provide the detained individuals with the
opportunity to consult with the attorneys.
21.

Around 3:00 p.m. on August 12, 2020, Stephen Manning, Executive Director of

Plaintiff Law Lab, spoke with David Drasin, the Assistant Field Office Director for ICE, by
phone. Mr. Manning requested access to the detained individuals in order to offer representation
and requested that ICE not transfer the detained individuals out of Oregon until they had been
provided with the opportunity to consult with the available attorneys. Mr. Drasin denied this
request and stated that the detained individuals would be transferred out of state without an
opportunity to consult with Innovation Law Lab and its volunteer attorneys.
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As of the time of this Complaint was filed, none of the requests that the Law Lab

has made or that any employee or volunteer acting on behalf of Law Lab has made to provide
legal assistance and advice to its clients and prospective clients detained in the Central Oregon
raid have been granted.
The Harm Caused to Immigrant Detainees Denied Access to Counsel
23.

The government’s denial of attorney access to clients and prospective clients in

the Central Oregon raid will causes serious irreparable harm to the detained individuals. Unlike
in criminal proceedings, individuals in immigration proceedings are not generally entitled to
appointed counsel if they cannot afford one. See generally CJLG v. Sessions, 880 F.3d 1122,
1128 (9th Cir. 2018). Because attorneys are not automatically provided by the government,
immigration detainees seeking representation must contact a private attorney to retain them or
rely on a patchwork of legal service providers who provide “know your rights” trainings and, in
some cases, pro bono representation.
24.

By denying attorney access, the federal government has effectively prevented

detainees from obtaining any legal assistance from Plaintiff Law Lab’s attorneys, who have
already agreed to represent them in their immigration proceedings.
25.

Likewise, Defendants’ conduct prevents Law Lab’s attorneys from consulting

with their clients, preparing for interviews or simply communicating with clients about the status
of their cases.
26.

If the individuals detained in the Central Oregon raid are transported to the

Northwest Detention Center in Tacoma, Washington, as David Drasin, Assistant Field Office
Director for ICE has represented, they will be functionally denied any meaningful opportunity to
consult with Plaintiff Law Lab going forward.
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The assistance of an attorney is essential for noncitizens navigating the

notoriously complex immigration system. The immigration laws “have been termed second only
to the Internal Revenue Code in complexity.” Castro-O’Ryan v. INS, 847 F.2d 1307, 1312 (9th
Cir. 1987) (internal quotation marks omitted); see also Baltazar-Alcazar v. INS, 386 F.3d 940,
948 (9th Cir. 2004) (emphasizing the complexity of immigration laws and noting that lawyers
may be the only ones capable of navigating through it).
28.

Legal assistance is particularly critical for noncitizens at the outset of their cases,

who must make important decisions about what claims or defenses to pursue. For such
individuals, the assistance of counsel may mean the difference between life and death.
CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
FIRST CLAIM
(Immigration and Nationality Act)
29.

All of the foregoing allegations are repeated and realleged as though fully set

forth herein.
30.

The Immigration and Nationality Act guarantees noncitizens in removal

proceedings the right to counsel of their choosing at no expense to the government. 8 U.S.C.
§ 1229a(b)(4)(A); Biwot v. Gonzales, 403 F.3d 1094, 1098 (9th Cir. 2005). This right necessarily
entails the right to consult with an attorney in advance of any hearing. Rios-Berrios v. INS, 776
F.2d 859, 862 (9th Cir. 1985).
31.

Defendants’ acts of seeking to prevent attorneys from meeting with their clients

and potential clients before they are detained in Central Oregon and transported by Defendants to
another, unknown location violates 8 U.S.C. 1229a(b)(4)(A). If Defendants transport Plaintiff
Law Lab’s clients and prospective clients to Northwest Detention Center in Tacoma, such
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transport would be tantamount to a denial of counsel and therefore a violation of the INA. See
Torres v. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., 411 F. Supp. 3d 1036 (C.D. Cal. 20109).
SECOND CLAIM
(Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the U.S Constitution)
32.

All of the foregoing allegations are repeated and realleged as though fully set

forth herein.
33.

The Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment guarantees noncitizen detainees

the right of access to the courts; the government may not unjustifiably obstruct that access. See
Procunier v. Martinez, 416 U.S. 396 (1974); Biwot v. Gonzales, 403 F.3d 1094, 1098 (9th Cir.
2005).
34.

This protection includes rights related to retaining and communicating with

attorneys: Detainees must be afforded “reasonable time to locate counsel,” and counsel must be
“permit[ted] . . . to prepare for the hearing.” Rios-Berrios v. INS, 776 F.2d 859, 862 (9th Cir.
1985). Impediments to communication after transfer to a remote facility can constitute a
“constitutional deprivation” where they obstruct an “established on-going attorney-client
relationship.” Comm. of Cent. Am. Refugees v. INS, 795 F.2d 1434, 1439 (9th Cir. 1986).
35.

These protections apply to individuals held under color of the immigration laws.

Orantes-Hernandez v. Thornburgh, 919 F.2d 549, 554, 565 (9th Cir. 1990) (recognizing “aliens
have a due process right to obtain counsel of their choice at their own expense,” and affirming
injunction against government practices “the cumulative effect of which was to prevent aliens
from contacting counsel and receiving any legal advice,” including the practice of denying visits
with counsel). See also Lyon v. ICE, 171 F. Supp. 3d 961 (N.D. Cal. 2016) (plaintiffs stated a
claim and survived summary judgment on access to courts and related due process claim based
on insufficient phone access to call attorneys); cf. Halvorsen v. Baird, 146 F.3d 680, 689 (9th
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Cir. 1998) (“That a person is committed civilly . . . cannot diminish his right not to be held
incommunicado.”).
36.

Defendants’ acts of seeking to prevent attorneys from meeting with their clients

and potential clients while they are detained in Central Oregon and before they are transported
by Defendants to another location, including the Northwest Detention Center in Tacoma,
Washington, violates the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment.
THIRD CLAIM
(First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution)
37.

All of the foregoing allegations are repeated and realleged as though fully set

forth herein.
38.

The First Amendment guarantees detained individuals, including individuals

detained by federal immigration authorities, the right to communicate with the outside world.
Valdez v. Rosenbaum, 302 F.3d 1039, 1048 (9th Cir. 2002).
39.

The First Amendment also protects the right to hire and consult with an attorney.

Mothershed v. Justices of Supreme Court, 410 F.3d 602, 611 (2005), as amended on denial of
reh’g (9th Cir. July 21, 2005). Defendants may not unreasonably restrict this right. Id.
40.

Similarly, the First Amendment protects an attorney’s right to advise both

retained clients and prospective litigants. See NAACP v. Button, 371 U.S. 415, 428–429 (1963);
In re Primus, 436 U.S. 412, 414, 423–24 (1978).
41.

By denying Plaintiff Law Lab of the opportunity to access, communicate with,

and consult with its prospective clients, Defendants have violated, and continue to violate,
Plaintiff Law Lab’s First Amendment rights.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF
Plaintiffs ask this Court to grant the following relief:
1.

Take jurisdiction over this complaint;

2.

Declare that the actions and practices of Defendants described above constitute
violations of federal regulatory, statutory, and constitutional law;

3.

Enjoin Defendants and their directors, officers, agents, and employees from
transporting by any means any of individual detained in Central Oregon this week
to location outside of the jurisdiction of this federal court for at least 48 hours;

4.

Enjoin Defendants and their directors, officers, agents, and employees from
preventing attorneys from visiting or communicating with individuals who have
been arrested and detained in Central Oregon, and from proceeding with the
individuals’ immigration cases or deporting them until they have been provided
an adequate opportunity to individually consult with an attorney;

5.

Order Defendants to provide Plaintiff Innovation Law Lab with access to every
individual arrested and detained in Central Oregon, so that Innovation Law Lab
may provide “know your rights” training to the individuals and conduct
individualized interviews in order to navigate the individuals into the Equity
Corps of Oregon program or its Center of Excellence Program;

6.

Order Defendants to provide written notice to Plaintiff Innovation Law Lab of any
scheduled interviews, appointments for any of the individuals arrested and
detained in Central Oregon;

7.

Grant an award of attorneys’ fees and costs; and

8.

Grant such other relief as may be just and reasonable.
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DATED this 12th day of August, 2020.
INNOVATION LAW LAB

By: s/ Nadia Dahab
Stephen Manning, OSB No. 013373
stephen@innovationlawlab.org
Nadia Dahab, OSB No. 125630
nadia@innovationlawlab.org
Jordan Cunnings, OSB No. 182928
jordan@innovationlawlab.org
The Oregon Trail Bldg
333 SW 5th Ave Ste 200
Portland OR 97204
Telephone: 503.241.0035
Attorneys for Plaintiff
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